DESIGNING INFORMATION LITERACY TUTORIALS

TIPS, TECHNIQUES, AND TRENDS

Yvonne Mery

Library Technology Reports

Expert Guides to Library Systems and Services





Expert Guides to Library Systems and Services

Designing Information Literacy Tutorials: Tips, Techniques, and Trends

Yvonne Mery



Library Technology R E P O R T S

ALA TechSource purchases fund advocacy, awareness, and accreditation programs for library professionals worldwide.

Volume 58, Number 5

Designing Information Literacy Tutorials: Tips, Techniques, and Trends ISBN: 978-0-8389-3815-7 DOI: https://doi.org/10.5860/ltr.58n5

American Library Association

225 N. Michigan Ave., Suite 1300 Chicago, IL 60601-7616 USA alatechsource.org 800-545-2433, ext. 4299 312-944-6780 312-280-5275 (fax)

Editor

Samantha Kundert

Copy Editor

Judith Lauber

Production

ALA Production Services

Cover Design

Alejandra Diaz and ALA Production Services

Library Technology Reports (ISSN 0024-2586) is published eight times a year (January, March, April, June, July, September, October, and December) by American Library Association, 225 N. Michigan Ave., Suite 1300, Chicago, IL 60601-7616. It is managed by ALA TechSource, a unit of the publishing department of ALA. Periodical postage paid at Chicago, Illinois, and at additional mailing offices. POSTMASTER: Send address changes to Library Technology Reports, 225 N. Michigan Ave., Suite 1300, Chicago, IL 60601-7616.

Trademarked names appear in the text of this journal. Rather than identify or insert a trademark symbol at the appearance of each name, the authors and the American Library Association state that the names are used for editorial purposes exclusively, to the ultimate benefit of the owners of the trademarks. There is absolutely no intention of infringement on the rights of the trademark owners.



Copyright © 2022 Yvonne Mery All Rights Reserved.

About the Author

Yvonne Mery, Associate Librarian, leads the Instructional Design and e-Learning unit at the University of Arizona Libraries. She is also adjunct professor in the iSchool at the University of Arizona, where she teaches courses in research methods and e-learning. Ms. Mery has designed and implemented online courses in information literacy skills for undergraduate students and collaborated with departments across campus to support students and instructors in their research needs. She has authored several papers and a book on the integration of information literacy in online classes and presented at numerous national conferences on best practices for online information literacy instruction. Ms. Mery has also designed and delivered workshops and courses in instructional design and tutorial development. She is the cofounder of Sidecar Learning, an e-learning platform. In addition to her MLS, she also holds an MA in teaching English as a second language and a BA in English literature. She has extensive experience working with a diverse group of undergraduate and graduate students.

Abstract

Even before the pandemic, many librarians were teaching online via video or interactive tutorials. But how do we know if our tutorials are any good? This issue of Library Technology Reports (vol. 58, no. 5), "Designing Information Literacy Tutorials: Tips, Techniques, and Trends," explores how librarians can create engaging and effective tutorials that are aligned with how this generation of students learns. The report starts with how to design better tutorials by using newer, agile instructional design models and implementing adult learning theories. The next chapter takes a deep dive into one trending and successful approach: microlearning. Chapter 3 discusses accessibility and universal design. Next, we take a look at getting feedback from our users, and we wrap up with a look at some helpful e-learning tools librarians need to create better tutorials.

Contents

Chapter 1—Design Trends and Approaches		
We Need Better Tutorials	5	
Changing How We Design Instruction	5	
Changing What We Teach	6	
Changing How We Teach	7	
Notes	8	
Chapter 2—A Case for Microlearning	10	
Designing Microlearning Tutorials	11	
Notes	13	
Chapter 3—Designing for All	14	
Accessibility 101	14	
Universal Design: Going beyond Accessibility	15	
Making It Even More Universal	16	
Notes	16	
Chapter 4—Getting Feedback	18	
Usability	18	
Satisfaction Surveys	19	
Notes	20	
Chapter 5—All You Need Is a Few Good Tools	21	
Arist	21	
Sidecar Learning	21	
LibWizard	22	
Articulate	22	
Adobe Captivate	22	
Vyond and Powtoon	22	
Actionbound	23	
Jotform	23	
Playposit	23	
Note	23	

Design Trends and Approaches

We Need Better Tutorials

Once a concern of only librarians and a few educators, information literacy is beginning to be seen by others in and outside of education as essential skills needed to succeed in college and beyond. The International Federation of Library Associations and Institutions' 2021 Trend Report lists information literacy as one of its top twenty trends and notes that "building information literacy may come to be seen as the only sustainable way of combating misinformation online." Released yearly, EDUCAUSE's Horizon Report profiles trends in higher education and technology, and for many years information literacy was barely mentioned and only in relation to digital literacy. But the report listed information literacy skills as a key trend in 2018.2 Similarly, experts believe the Fourth Industrial Revolution will call for critical-thinking skills as one of the top ten skills needed to succeed in the workplace.3 Information literacy skills are critical-thinking skills, as these skills allow students to critically evaluate information they encounter and to understand how they will use it to solve problems.

One way librarians teach these skills is through online tutorials. Visit just about any library website, and you'll find a list of information literacy tutorials students can take at their own pace. However, the quality, look, and feel of these tutorials vary greatly. Some are simply text-based library guides, others are videos, and others are more interactive. Unfortunately, many tend to be content-focused, overly long, and lacking in engagement. This trend is a problem not just for librarians but for many instructional designers. Each year my university creates online tutorials for a number of mandated trainings on topics such as workplace harassment, cybersecurity, and the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act. Each tutorial is built using the same software and follows the same design pattern of content (usually in the form of text), question, content, question, and so on, until you

reach the final quiz, which must be passed in order to receive a certificate of completion. The tutorials are tedious, forgettable, and dreaded by everyone across campus. Unfortunately, most tutorials I have come across follow this basic pattern, and going through them feels more like punishment than training.

Changing How We Design Instruction

Before starting any tutorial, an instructional designer needs an instructional design model to follow. An instructional design model is like a blueprint for a house. Yes, you can build a house without a blueprint, but chances are it will be unstable and soon fall apart. Designing a tutorial is both an art and a science. It is a science because instructional design models are grounded in pedagogical theories and cognitive science, but it is also an art because it calls for creativity. Adopting an instructional design model helps to ensure that your instruction or tutorial is effective, has clear objectives, and has relevant assessments; the model helps you to ask the right questions. In short, it helps you to create a product that is useful and usable. Which model you choose will depend on your own needs and resources, and no model is better than another. For years, the standard and most often used model of instructional design was the ADDIE model, which follows a linear approach of analysis, design, development, implementation, and evaluation. Traditionally, strict ADDIE followers advocate completing one phase before moving on to the next phase. The ADDIE model has some obvious benefits, including an in-depth analysis phase where the learning needs are clearly defined and detailed steps that should be completed before moving on to the next. However, it also has its drawbacks. Tutorial development is rarely a linear process. Rather, it is messy and cyclical. ADDIE is time- and resource-intensive; often, when creating

shorter tutorials, you don't need such a detailed process. Instead, today instructional designers and librarians need a more agile and streamlined approach. There are dozens of instructional design models. I have included two here that may be less well-known by librarians and that work well with the creation of shorter tutorials.

SAM

SAM (Successive Approximation Model) was created by Dr. Michael Allen of Allen Interactions as a reaction to the inflexibility of ADDIE.4 It is a rapid and iterative approach to e-learning design that emphasizes quick prototype development and feedback. The main phases of SAM are preparation, design, and development. The preparation phase starts with gathering information, including identifying key stakeholders, materials, learners, and any constraints. The next step is to create a rough prototype, perhaps a wireframe or even a paper wireframe. Once a prototype is created, feedback is gathered from stakeholders and the prototype is further worked on. From the prototype stage, we move on to the development stage, where the tutorial is fully implemented and can be evaluated further. Some of the obvious benefits of SAM are its flexibility (you can go back to any step at any point) and its quick prototype development. However, one drawback is a lack of an immediate and consistent understanding of the learner and their needs, wants, and experiences. Additionally, it can be time-consuming and resource-intensive.

Design Thinking

In somewhat of a contrast to SAM, design thinking, a type of user-centered design, puts the user first and involves them throughout the process. It is not a traditional instructional design model, but it can be successfully used to create learning experiences, including tutorials. Unlike many instructional design models, design thinking stresses the importance of the learner and their experiences and feelings and not just the skills that need addressing. Design thinking is a nonlinear, iterative process with five phases:

- 1. *Empathize*: The first step is to get to know your learners in any way that you can. This can be done via focus groups, individual interviews, observations, surveys, and even reading about them. The idea here is to gain a thorough and empathetic understanding of where they struggle and what their biggest challenges are when using the library and conducting research.
- 2. *Define*: The next step is to define the problem that you believe needs tackling. Design thinking encourages you to bring in your own point

- of view as to what the real problem is. Here you need to succinctly define the problems students have with research. You can share your ideas in this step and get feedback from your students.
- 3. *Ideate:* The ideate phase is where you brainstorm solutions to the problems. Design thinking encourages you to come up with as many solutions as you can think of and to let your imagination take flight. This is not a time to limit your ideas because of a lack of resources, time, or budgets. At this stage you should share your ideas with students, get feedback, and adjust your ideas or even start over.
- 4. *Prototype:* In the prototyping stage, you create a rough skeleton of your idea and again get feedback. For an online tutorial, this may look like just a skeleton version of your tutorial with placeholders for images and other elements and with minimal content. This works really well with tutorials because you can get good feedback as to how something feels for the user and what they learned from the tutorial.
- 5. Test: The final step before full implementation is to test the tutorial with students and again get feedback from them. After testing you may need to make further adjustments before implementation, but if you have received feedback since the second step these adjustments should be minimal.

Design thinking does have its drawbacks. Mainly, it is time-consuming, and many of us will not have regular or repeated access to our students. However, you can and should adjust any model or process to fit your particular needs.

Changing What We Teach

For years, librarians approached information literacy instruction as teaching a set of discrete skills students needed to learn and practice in order to master them and become information-literate. There was also an emphasis on teaching how to use specific databases and on visiting classes for one-shot library sessions. The Association of College and Research Libraries' (ACRL) Information Literacy Competency Standards for Higher Education, which were widely used by librarians, stress the building of lower-order and higherorder thinking skills.⁵ In contrast, ACRL's newer Framework for Information Literacy for Higher Education stresses the understanding of concepts and critical-thinking skills.6 It also places greater emphasis on a more critical approach to information literacy that asks learners to consider authority, power, and privilege. Additionally, as learners and the tools they use (databases, Google) become more sophisticated and accurate, teaching skills such as evaluating sources

Library Technology Reports alatechsource.org July 2022

with checklists like the CRAAP test (explained below) and formatting citations has become irrelevant. Following are some examples of how the content we teach in tutorials is changing.

Evaluating Sources

Evaluating sources of information is a common lesson librarians regularly teach online and in person. One popular method is the CRAAP (Currency, Relevance, Authority, Accuracy, and Purpose) test.7 Learners answer questions about the information source and then decide how reliable the source is. Although the CRAAP test does have its merits, it just doesn't work anymore. As Jennifer Fielding writes, with online sources, including those that disseminate misinformation, "becom[ing] increasingly sophisticated and prolific, . . . restricting analysis to a single website's content without understanding how that site relates to a wider scope now has the potential to facilitate the acceptance of misinformation as fact."8 In contrast, lateral reading takes into account several websites and focuses on what others are saying about a particular source or author. Lateral reading is a "strategy for investigating who's behind an unfamiliar online source by leaving the web page and opening a new browser tab to see what trusted websites say about the unknown source."9 Researchers at Stanford found that fact-checkers often use lateral reading strategies to successfully verify sources. 10 Similarly, students can use these strategies to better determine how reliable a source is.

Citations

One of the first tutorials I created showed students how to correctly cite different types of sources in APA and MLA styles. The students were shown a citation in the correct format and then an incorrect one that they needed to correct by moving around the different citation elements. At that time many databases and other searching tools did not have a Cite button, and sites like EasyBib were not popular with students. Today, students will rarely need to construct citations by hand, but still instructors and librarians insist on teaching them this skill. Instead, as the Framework suggests, we should create tutorials where students learn why citing is important, why organizations follow different styles, and why all information should be properly attributed.

Sources

Many instructors require students to use only peerreviewed material in their papers, and peer-reviewed articles remain the gold standard. However, allowing only peer-reviewed papers "means devaluing other means of knowledge communication . . . [and]

we need to recognize that there are other kinds of items other than research or journal articles that are valid."11 Most library tutorials include a discussion of the types of sources students may encounter, but these rarely go beyond the differences between traditional popular and scholarly sources. Our tutorials should teach students why and how certain voices are left out of the research and where to find those voices.

Searching

Many tutorials that focus on teaching how to search emphasize the idea of creating the perfect search string with the right keywords and Boolean operators. Although this is a useful skill for learners to acquire, students are used to Google and getting what they need with little effort. The latest searching tutorial I created stressed that there is no perfect search and that students can learn from each unsuccessful search.

Open Educational Resources

Open educational resources mean librarians have a plethora of information literacy tutorials, assignments, and readings readily available. For example, Community of Online Research Assignments, known as CORA, provides users with a searchable database of information literacy assignments aligned to the ACRL Framework. Assignments can be adopted as is or adapted for a particular need. CORA also includes several assignments that aim to teach social justice and critical information literacy.

CORA

https://www.projectcora.org/

Changing How We Teach

Mobile

Although a trend for years, mobile learning is becoming students' go-to method for accessing all types of information, including tutorials. As a result, our tutorials need to be not just mobile-friendly but mobile-first. Mobile-first means your tutorial is designed with the expectation that students will access it on a mobile device. Every design choice and on-screen element is developed for mobile devices. If something does not work well on a mobile device, it should not be included.

Train the Trainer

With dwindling resources, budget cuts, a move away from one-shot sessions, and fewer subject specialists, it has become difficult to reach all students who need instruction. As an alternative, we can develop tutorials and online classes that show faculty how they can integrate information literacy skills throughout their courses. Our library recently developed a selfpaced course for faculty via the university's course management system. Conceived by librarian Nicole Pagowsky, the course ran over five days and covered topics including library anxiety in students, teaching information literacy skills, and inclusive information literacy. The course was well attended and exceeded our enrollment expectations.

Micro-credentialing

Some libraries, such as Penn State and SUNY Albany, have developed extensive badging systems for students to demonstrate their mastery of information literacy skills, but this approach is still not mainstream. Micro-credentialing offers students a personalized and flexible way to learn that is more performancebased and not based on seat time.12 One reason why badges have not become more mainstream is the time and resources it takes to develop them and for students to earn them. Penn State offers ten information literacy badges that are organized into three tracks. Each badge takes between forty-five minutes and an hour to complete.13 Many learning management systems, such as D2L Brightspace, offer more simplified badges that are easy to create. At the University of Arizona Libraries, we have created a series of badges students receive automatically once they complete a short tutorial. Since several instructors may require students to complete the same set of tutorials, students can show their instructors their badges so they don't have to repeat the content.

Flipped Classroom

Tutorials can go only so far, and they work best when they are integrated into the curriculum, required, and discussed again in the class. Flipped learning saves time and is more personalized. Instead of teaching students in class how to use a database, develop a tutorial on how to use it. Then, in the classroom students can practice using the database and ask questions specific to their needs. If you have a series of tutorials, you can have students choose a tutorial to complete on their own. Then, in the classroom, place them in groups based on which tutorial they completed and ask them to share three things they learned. This way students learn the skills covered in the tutorials without having to complete each one.

Adaptive Learning

Adaptive learning uses computer algorithms to tailor the instruction to an individual learner. The content that one student gets is different from what another gets. Many online tests, such as the Test of English as a Foreign Language, are adaptive and adjust subsequent questions depending on the user's performance. Our students come to us with varied levels of information literacy, and a single tutorial will not meet all their needs. Tools like Storyline and Captivate use branching technology to guide students down different paths. Students can start off answering a set of diagnostic questions and then be placed in an appropriate level in the tutorial. With advances in AI technology, adaptive learning will become more sophisticated and more individualized and will be able to adjust the learning depending on how long it takes to answer a question, movements made on the screen, and even a student's mood.

Storyline 360 https://articulate.com/360/storyline/

Adobe Captivate

https://www.adobe.com/products/captivate.html

Gamification

Gamification is the application of game design elements to non-game applications or situations and can be highly motivating. Language learning apps such as Duolingo include many gaming elements to help users engage with them on a daily basis. Gaming elements like points, levels, characters, a story arc, and challenges are easy to build into any tutorial.

Notes

- 1. International Federation of Library Associations and Institutions, IFLA Trend Report 2021 Update (The Hague, Netherlands: IFLA, 2021), 25, https://reposi tory.ifla.org/handle/123456789/1830.
- 2. William Badke, "The Horizon Report and Information Literacy," Online Searcher 43, no. 3 (2019): 55-57.
- 3. Alex Gray, "The Ten Skills You Need to Thrive in the Fourth Industrial Revolution," World Economic Forum, January 19, 2016, https://www.weforum.org /agenda/2016/01/the-10-skills-you-need-to-thrive -in-the-fourth-industrial-revolution/.
- 4. "Successive Approximations Model," Allen Interactions, accessed October 15, 2021, https://www.allen interactions.com/allen-interactions-rapid-instruc tional-design-and-development-with-sam.
- 5. Association of College and Research Libraries, "ACRL Standards: Information Literacy Competency Standards for Higher Education," College and Research Libraries News 61, no. 3 (March 2000), https://crln.acrl .org/index.php/crlnews/article/view/19242/22395.
- 6. Association for College and Research Libraries, Framework for Information Literacy for Higher Education

- (Chicago: Association of College and Research Libraries, 2016), https://www.ala.org/acrl/standards/ilframework.
- 7. Sarah Blakeslee, "The CRAAP Test," *LOEX Quarterly* 31, no. 3 (Fall 2004): article 4, https://commons.emich.edu/loexquarterly/vol31/iss3/4.
- 8. Jennifer Fielding, "Rethinking CRAAP: Getting Students Thinking like Fact-Checkers in Evaluating Web Sources," *College and Research Libraries News* 80, no. 11 (2019),https://crln.acrl.org/index.php/crlnews/article/view/24195/32005.
- 9. "Intro to Lateral Reading," Civic Online Reasoning, Stanford History Education Groups, accessed July 20, 2021, https://cor.stanford.edu/curriculum/lessons/intro-to-lateral-reading/.
- Sam Wineburg and Sarah McGrew, "Lateral Reading and the Nature of Expertise: Reading Less and Learning More When Evaluating Digital Information," *Teachers College Record* 121, no. 11 (2019): 1–40, https://purl.stanford.edu/yk133ht8603.
- 11. Sarah Trembath, George Koors, and Rachel Borchardt, "Decolonizing Research Methodologies," Antiracist Praxis, American University, accessed June 3, 2021, https://subjectguides.library.american.edu/c.php?g=1025915&p=7749833.
- "Micro-credentials," National Education Association, accessed June 6, 2021, https://www.nea.org/professional-excellence/professional-learning/micro-credentials.

A Case for Microlearning

hen I first started creating online learning tutorials about fifteen years ago, we tried to pack everything that we taught in a one-shot class session into one or two tutorials. These tutorials could take anywhere between thirty minutes and an hour to complete. We really had no idea if the tutorials were effective or not, but looking back, the tutorials were aligned with what we knew about how students learned online, which wasn't all that much. Today we know that adult students learn better when presented with shorter bits of information, especially when that content is delivered online. Contrary to popular belief, this is not due to students' shortened attention spans, but rather because it is more aligned with how they consume any type of new information, such as online TED lectures, YouTube videos, or textbased web pages.2 Shorter bits of learning are also better aligned with andragogical learning theories, which stress the importance of presenting students with information that is immediately applicable and relevant to their coursework and lives. Thus our learners are not telling us, "I am bored and can't concentrate," but rather, "Don't waste my time with information I don't need." Adult learners also want self-paced and self-directed learning. They want to decide what they want to learn, when, and in what order. This is where microlearning comes in.

Although around since the 1960s, microlearning has been growing in popularity over the past ten years or so. Today, it is being used a lot more in corporate training and is starting to become more popular in higher education, including in academic libraries and in information literacy instruction. There really is no set definition of microlearning. I have seen a lot of definitions in the literature, but I think this definition attributed to Hug and Friesen in a report on microlearning from Grovo captures what microlearning is: "Microlearning is generally characterized by low time commitment, small chunks, short effort, and narrow topics, but it is complex as a whole." With

this definition in mind, let's consider an example. Most zoos have an informational sign that offers some information about the animal, its habitat, its diet, and so on next to each animal exhibit. Are these signs an example of microlearning? It certainly meets some of the criteria—low time commitment, small chunks of information, doesn't take a lot of effort to access or complete, and introduces only a few narrow topics, but is it complex as a whole? The answer is no because microlearning is more than just a snippet of text.

A microlearning activity should consist of an entire lesson: content, guided learning, practice, and feedback or reflection. It should also be easy to access and learn. Students should not come across barriers in order to access the content, so they should already be familiar with the delivery mechanism or it should be easily accessible and navigable. This is in contrast to a macrolearning course like one offered via a course management system where students may need to learn how to use several different parts of the system before they can get started with the content. Microlearning is intended to be remembered immediately, as it is just a small bit of information and is intended to have immediate application. Macrolearning may be forgotten, as it may not be used for months down the road. Microlearning can consist of individual parts to cover more topics, but those individual parts must be independent of each other. In contrast, macrolearning often uses textbooks with chapters and content that build upon each other. Finally, there is no consensus among educators as to just how short a microlearning lesson should be, but under ten minutes should be a rule. Others advocate for less time and have found that, independent of content, students began to lose interest in videos after six minutes.4

The benefits of microlearning include both better engagement and better learning. Most of us dread mandatory e-learning trainings for two major reasons: they tend to be boring and too long. Students approach online tutorials, especially those that they are not

Outcomes are a first step to creating any type of

required to take, in the same way: dread and boredom. Students often do not have the time to complete a long tutorial, but they do have the time to complete a tutorial that takes less than ten minutes. All types of online learning courses and tutorials that are not mandatory have notoriously low completion rates.⁵ Reich found that for MOOCs, across subject matter, between 2 and 10 percent of learners complete a course.⁶ One reason why is the sheer amount of time it takes to complete such a course. Microlearning courses, however, have been found to have 75 to 100 percent completion rates.7 Since microlearning tutorials address only a few outcomes and are quick to complete, students can easily access the tutorial again if they need to. There is also a lower cognitive load; working memory can hold only a certain amount of information, and we forget about 70 percent of what we learn within twenty-four hours.8 Shorter means learners have less information to retain and later recall. Shorter also means greater motivation. Our learners are busy. They see a short tutorial that will take them about five minutes and they think, "OK, I can do that." A long tutorial will have the opposite reaction. Finally, short tutorials are also easier to create and later edit, so this can save us time and resources.

Of course microlearning is not for everyone nor for all subjects. It can be fragmented, and we want our students to gain a lot more than just a few skills here and there. Information literacy skills are longterm goals that need revisiting, reinforcement, and repeated application, and these skills need to build on one another, so microlearning is not ideal for teaching complex concepts. Thus, while microlearning will work if the goal is to teach conversational Spanish, it might not work all that well for teaching Spanish literature. In terms of information literacy skills, microlearning works well when teaching discrete skills, like creating search strategies, but won't work so well with concepts such as critical information literacy.

Designing Microlearning Tutorials

Backward Design

Often when designing a learning activity, we start with the content and lay out how we are going to teach it that is, this concept will come first, then we will work on this, followed by this topic. Then we may design some activities for learners to do and end with how we may assess students' learning. This process leads to a flat learning experience that is content-focused and not student-focused. Backward, as the name suggests, starts at the end. It starts with learning goals and thinking about what you would like your students to be able to do after completing a tutorial or other learning intervention. I like to start my tutorial design by writing three types of goals: cognitive, behavioral,

and affective. I am interested not only in what my learners should know but also in what they should be able to do and how their feelings or attitudes might change. For example, a tutorial on evaluating online resources may have the following goals:

After completing the tutorial students will

- · explain what lateral reading is
- · evaluate an online source for credibility
- · feel confident in their ability to judge a source for credibility

The next step in backward design is to create an assessment that can measure these outcomes. Only then should a tutorial be designed for content, sequencing, and activities. A backward design approach also helps with creating more engaging tutorials because it forces you to put the content on the back burner and the learner's experience first.

The ABCs of Outcomes

There are three words (there are probably more, but these will suffice) you should never use when writing learning outcomes: know, learn, understand. Why? Because learning outcomes should be specific, observable, and measurable. Although you could write specific learning outcomes with any of these words (something along the lines of "Learners will know how to request a book via the library's loan service."), it is not possible to observe or measure what learners know or what they have learned. Immediately after writing an outcome, you should have a good idea of how you could measure the extent to which the learner achieved that outcome. Let's take this same outcome but write it with an action verb: "Learners will explain the steps in requesting a book via the library's loan system." Here, the assessment almost writes itself: the student will list the steps needed to complete a book request using the library's interlibrary loan system. There are thousands of online resources that list action verbs aligned to Bloom's taxonomy.

lesson or tutorial, and just about any course in teaching will point out the importance of learning outcomes and making sure learners are aware of them. Letting students know what the learning outcomes are ahead of an instructional session has a myriad of benefits, including an increase in engagement and motivation, more focused attention, more self-directed learning, and quicker mastery of skills.9 However, learning outcomes should never be listed at the beginning of any microlearning tutorial. Most teachers don't stand up in front of a class and read aloud each learning outcome they wrote for that day's lesson. This would be a very effective way of boring students. However, almost

Table 2.1. Sample tutorial instructions

Original Directions

dataZoa has many helpful features including custom charts. You will probably need to customize your chart with different types of labels. Customizing your chart is not difficult, but it will take a few steps to learn. Let's learn how to customize the chart you have created. You can change the labels for the chart data.

Go to the Series Settings tab in the chart window. Choose the "Real Personal Consumption Expenditures: Education" series from the Which Series drop-down menu.

Look for the Label box toward the middle of the screen. Change it to "Education." Click outside the Label box, and you'll see that the legend under the table shows the blue line is now just "Education."

Change the Which Series drop-down menu to "Real personal consumption expenditures: Clothing, footwear, and related services" data (the red line), and change the Label to "Clothing, footwear, and related services."

Revised Directions

Customizing Your Chart

Let's learn how to customize the chart you created.

Your Turn

- In the Series Settings tab, choose "Real Personal Consumption Expenditures: Education" from the Which Series drop-down menu.
- Change the **Label** box toward the middle of the screen to **Education**.
- Change the Which Series drop-down menu to "Real personal consumption expenditures: Clothing, footwear, and related services."
- Change the **Label** to "Clothing, footwear, and related services."

all information literacy tutorials I have come across start with a long set of learning outcomes. Learning outcomes, especially when designing microlearning tutorials, are for us as teachers and designers, not for our students. We have a very limited amount of time with students, and we don't want to waste that time with a list of outcomes that are often ignored. Yes, we must orient our students to the learning, but this can be done via descriptive titles, section or chapter headings, or one sentence that is part of the narration. Again, this is more aligned with how students learn today. Many YouTube video tutorials start with, "Hi, today we are going to learn about . . ." and not a list of outcomes.

Cutting Out the Fluff

A microlearning tutorial should include only essential information, which means cutting out the fluff. The fluff is anything that is not directly aligned to the learning outcome. Some of the most popular videos on YouTube are how-to tutorials. Usually these tutorials start off with an introduction to the channel, the YouTuber, a request for a Like, and an introduction to what we are going to learn that day. This usually takes up over half the video, and more often than not, the viewer fast-forwards through it and ignores it. If we need to figure out how to use a new feature on our phone, we do not need to know how much a particular phone cost, where it was purchased, when it was purchased, how long the person has had it, and so on. Cutting out the fluff means eliminating all this extra information that might be good to know but is not needed to achieve the learning outcome.

Limiting Text

As an instructional designer for our library, I often create tutorials based on content developed by librarians,

and the first thing I do each time is cut and rewrite text. Librarians, in their quest to be as helpful as possible, often write unnecessarily complicated and long text passages, and this goes against how users consume digital text. I have come across several studies that show that users rarely spend all that much time reading text on a screen. One study by the Nielsen Norman Group found that users read anywhere from 20 to 28 percent of the words on a screen. 10 Knowing this and knowing we have a limited amount of time with our learners, we need to cut out any text that is not directly related to our learning outcomes, and we want to make our text easier to skim and scan. The easiest way to do this is to use headings, bold lettering, and bullet points. Table 2.1 shows two examples of a set of directions that was created for a tutorial. In the example on the right, I eliminated any unnecessary text, added a heading, broke up text into chunks, and added bold letters and bullets. In the revised example, a learner can easily skim and scan the page and follow the directions more easily.

Comprehension Checks

Remember, an effective microlearning tutorial is not simply a video. Rather, it is an entire lesson with an assessment component. Comprehension checks throughout a tutorial allow the user to receive immediate feedback on their progress. Multiple-choice and reflection items are two common and easy ways to allow students to check their comprehension and receive feedback. In my book on creating online information literacy courses, I include several guidelines for writing effective multiple-choice items that can be easily aligned to different levels of Bloom's taxonomy. Among the most important of these are creating effective prompts that don't confuse the student and writing distractors that are plausible and challenging for the student in order to truly gauge student

learning. Before writing a multiple-choice question, I strongly suggest taking a look at these easy-to-follow guidelines. Often used to check simple recall, multiple-choice items can also be used to test higher-order thinking skills such as analyzing and evaluating. For example, in a tutorial on using sources, a common question may be to ask learners to recall the definition of plagiarism. A higher-order thinking skill question would have students read a short passage followed by some rewrites of that passage and an analysis of which may be plagiarized.

Reflection questions build engagement and motivation by allowing students to assess their own learning, understand themselves better as learners, and come up with solutions on their own.12 As with multiple-choice items, reflection questions can be used throughout a tutorial, including before learning begins to help activate learners' prior knowledge. Reflection questions should be concise and address one specific learning outcome. They should also be based on the learner's experience, and they should challenge the learner so that they need to pause and think about the question. To use at the beginning of a tutorial, write questions that ask students to recall and reflect on a time when they used a similar set of skills as those that are about to be taught. For summative reflection questions, I like to have students reflect on what they feel was the most important thing they learned and why, or I have them reflect on three things they learned. Most e-learning tools allow you to give answer-level feedback, and this feedback should be meaningful. Meaningful feedback means a thorough explanation of why a particular answer was incorrect. Students should be allowed and encouraged to try answering a question again if they get it wrong. Feedback should also have a friendly tone. Instead of using "correct" or "incorrect," we often use "oops," "not quite," or "almost." Reflection questions should also include feedback, even if the feedback is a canned reply or something along the lines of "Thanks for your answer."

Notes

 Gona Sirwan Mohammed, Karzan Wakil, and Sarkhell Sirwan Nawroly, "The Effectiveness of Microlearning to Improve Students' Learning Ability," International Journal of Educational Research Review 3, no. 3 (2018): 32–38, https://doi.org/10.24331/ijere .415824; Anne Hesse, Pedro Ospina, Matthias Wieland, Franciso Leal Yepes, and Wolfgang Heuwieser, "Microlearning Courses Are Effective at Increasing the Feelings of Confidence and Accuracy in the Work of Dairy Personnel," Journal of Dairy Science 102, no. 10 (2019): 9505–11; Jiaqi Yin, Tiong-Thye

- Goh, Bing Yang, and Yang Xiaobin, "Conversation Technology with Micro-learning: The Impact of Chatbot-Based Learning on Students' Learning Motivation and Performance," *Journal of Educational Computing Research* 59, no. 1 (March 2021): 154–77, https://doi.org/10.1177/0735633120952067.
- Neil A. Bradbury, "Attention Span during Lectures: 8 Seconds, 10 Minutes, or More?," Advances in Physiology Education 40, no. 4 (2016): 509–13.
- Grovo, "Bite Size Is the Right Size: How Microlearning Shrinks the Skills Gap," accessed April 21, 2022, http://lndglobal.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/WHITE-PAPER-Microlearning.pdf.
- Philip Guo, "Optimal Video Length for Student Engagement," edX Blog, November 13, 2013, https://blog.edx.org/optimal-video-length-student-engagement.
- 5. Sara Isabella de Freitas, John Morgan, and David Gibson, "Will MOOCs Transform Learning and Teaching in Higher Education? Engagement and Course Retention in Online Learning Provision," *British Journal of Educational Technology* 46, no. 3 (2015): 455–71, https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12268.
- Justin Reich, "MOOC Completion and Retention in the Context of Student Intent," EDUCAUSE Review, December 8, 2014, https://er.educause.edu/art icles/2014/12/mooc-completion-and-retention-in -the-context-of-student-intent.
- 7. Luuk P. A. Simmons, Florian Foerster, Peter A. Bruck, Luvai Motiwalla, and Catholijn M. Jonker, "Microlearning mApp Raises Health Competence: Hybrid Service Design," *Health and Technology* 5, no. 1 (2015): 35–43, https://doi.org/10.1007/s12553-015-0095-1; Suresh Kumar, "How to Improve Training Outcomes with Microlearning Interventions," eLearning Industry, September 28, 2020, https://elearningindustry.com/improve-training-outcomes-with-microlearning-interventions.
- 8. Art Kohn, "Brain Science: The Forgetting Curve—The Dirty Secret of Corporate Training," Learning Solutions, March 13, 2014, https://learningsolutionsmag.com/articles/1379/brain-science-the-forgetting-curvethe-dirty-secret-of-corporate-training.
- 9. Sarah Fulmer, "Should We Share Learning Outcomes/ Objectives with Students at the Start of a Lesson?" Kesgrave High School (blog), October 12, 2017, https:// khsbpp.wordpress.com/2017/10/12/should-we-share -learning-outcomes-objectives-with-students-at-the -start-of-a-lesson/.
- Jakob Nielsen, "How Little Do Users Read?," Nielsen Norman Group, May 5, 2008, https://www.nngroup.com/articles/how-little-do-users-read.
- 11. Yvonne Mery and Jill Newby, Online by Design: The Essentials of Creating Information Literacy Courses (Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield, 2014).
- 12. Rusul Alrubail, "Scaffolding Student Reflections + Sample Questions," Edutopia, January 3, 2015, https://www.edutopia.org/discussion/scaffolding-student-reflections-sample-questions. Melissa Mallon, "Microcredentialing," *Public Services Quarterly* 15, no. 2 (2019): 116–25.

Designing for All

Accessibility 101

You'll find that almost every e-learning platform is 508-compliant, meaning that it is accessible and meets 508 guidelines. Essentially, Section 508 of the Rehabilitation Act states that any institution receiving federal funding, including schools and universities, must provide disabled users "access to information comparable to the access available to others."1 Two notes of caution here. First, although a tool may be accessible, many of its features may not be. Often interactivity options like drag and drops are not compliant; neither are videos that don't have captioning. Additionally, to make a tutorial accessible using most e-learning tools will require additional development. Articulate Storyline is 508-complaint, but you must individually add accessibility information to any element on the screen that conveys information. As a best practice, you should integrate this additional work into your workflow, and not treat it as something to add later in the development process. Second, these guidelines are the minimum that you should use in any tutorial. The Web Content Accessibility Guidelines (WCAG) are stricter than the 508 guidelines. For example, Section 508 and WCAG both call for captioning of audio content, but WCAG also calls for audio controls like the ability to stop, pause, and adjust the volume of audio.² For a complete list of WCAG guidelines, see the General Services Administration's "Guide to Accessible Web Design and Development." Many of these guidelines may not be relevant to tutorials, so I have included here the most useful accessibility tips for tutorial development.

Guide to Accessible Web Design and Development

https://www.section508.gov/content/guide-accessible -web-design-development/

Text Alternatives

Some users may use a keyboard or a screen reader like JAWS to go through your tutorials. As a result, you must include text alternatives for any elements on the screen that need to be read by the screen reader. We are pretty familiar with alt tags for images but may not be so familiar with alt tags for buttons, multiple-choice questions, and boxes. Any element on the screen that is not purely decorative must have a tag that can be read by a screen reader.

Video

Videos should have both closed-captioning and a video transcript. Including a transcript not only allows for the use of screen readers but also allows the learner to go at their own pace and choose how they would like to access the content. There are a number of free and paid captioning services. However, the free ones, like YouTube, tend to lack accuracy. Rev, a paid service that costs \$1.50 per minute, claims to have a 99 percent accuracy rate.³ As a best practice, add captioning only when you are certain you will not be making any additional changes to the video. Learners should also be able to control the video and adjust the volume. Additionally, a video with sound should not start automatically, but rather the learner should choose when to start the video.

Rev https://www.rev.com/

Tab Order and Focus

Users with visual impairments and those with motor skills disabilities may not be able to use a mouse or trackpad. Instead they use the tab key or space bar to move through a tutorial. The tab key will read any elements on the screen that have an alt tag. However, as part of the development process, you must decide in which order the tags will be read and also which elements do not need tags and will be ignored. Similarly, you will need to decide what to do about interactive options that cannot be used with a tab key or space bar, such as drag and drops, slides, and matching questions. You should either avoid these features or include an equivalent alternative.

Tables

Tables are a great way of organizing and presenting content. However, they are not automatically accessible. Individuals using screen readers do not automatically know that a table is present. To make tables accessible, you will need to add a description for the table, headers for rows and columns, and HTML markups for individual cells.

Color

Designing for all means designing for a spectrum of vision disabilities from individuals with low vision to those with color blindness. Some color combinations may look good together from a design standpoint but may be difficult to see. Black and white has the highest contrast, but from a design point of view that combination is rather boring. The WCAG provides standards for minimum text and background contrast and ratings from AAA to Fail.4 For normal size text, you want to achieve an AA rating. You can easily check the contrast ratio of your text with the WebAIM Contrast Checker. On the topic of color, you don't want color to be the only way that you communicate information. For example, if you have two buttons, a green one for Yes and a red one for No, you should also include the words Yes and No. In addition to words, you can also give the two buttons different shapes to further communicate information.

WebAIM Contrast Checker https://webaim.org/resources/contrastchecker/

Universal Design: Going beyond Accessibility

Universal design differs from accessibility in that it is broader and not aimed solely for individuals with disabilities but rather for *all* individuals. Originally created by architect Ron Mace, universal design is "the concept of designing all products and the built environment to be aesthetic and usable to the greatest

extent possible by everyone, regardless of their age, ability, or status in life."5

The seven principles of universal design are

- 1. Equitable Use
- 2. Flexibility in Use
- 3. Simple and Intuitive Use
- 4. Perceptible Information
- 5. Tolerance for Error
- Low Physical Effort
- 7. Size and Space for Approach and Use⁶

Some examples of designs that incorporate these principles are sidewalk curb cuts, doors that open automatically, scissors that can be easily used by right-and left-handed individuals, adjustable desks, and Ikea assembly instructions. So how is this all related to creating tutorials? Related to universal design and based on the science of how people learn, Universal Design for Learning (UDL) focuses on minimizing barriers to learning for *all* learners. Learners come to us with diverse motivations, diverse educational preparedness, and diverse linguistic and cultural backgrounds. The UDL guidelines provide educators with a means for meeting the needs of all learners in the same educational situation. The UDL principles are

- 1. Provide multiple means of engagement [how students interact with teacher, the content, and other students]
- Provide multiple means of representation [how learning materials are delivered to the learners]
- 3. Provide multiple means of action and expression [how students show they achieved the learning outcome]⁸

Let's take a closer look at how these principles can be used in the design of a tutorial.

- 1. Multiple means of engagement: Like the library guides and websites we create, our information literacy tutorials are accessed by users with many different motivations and often, in the case of tutorials, little intrinsic motivation. To better motivate and engage students, allow students to choose from a number of different topics and levels. For example, a tutorial on keywords and searching can be taught in the context of any research topic. Having the student choose the topic that interests them most will lead to more motivation to complete a tutorial.
- 2. Multiple means of representation: In addition to building engagement so that learners finish a tutorial, this principle focuses on effectiveness of tutorials. Although the theory of learning styles has been shown to be little more than a myth,

learners may have preferences for how they wish to consume content. Additionally, not all students will have access to the same technology or have the same technology skills. If using video or any type of interactivity in a tutorial, you will also want to include a text and images version or even a plain text version.

3. Multiple means of action and expression: Ideally this principle means students have the option to show what they have learned with and without the use of technology. For example, some learners may create a presentation with slides, others may want to write a paper, and others may want to give an oral presentation. With online tutorials, learners are limited by the tool the tutorial is created in. However, learners should be given the option to choose how they will be assessed. Many tools allow for a number of different interactive options and question forms, including text response boxes, multiple-choice questions, hot spots, and matching. Some learners may also prefer interacting with other students. Tools like Padlet allow users to see what others have written on a topic and add their own content in the form of virtual sticky notes.

Padlet https://padlet.com/

Making It Even More Universal

Bad navigation can render an otherwise great tutorial almost useless. Navigation should be intuitive, and the learner should not have to think about how they will move through a tutorial, answer a question, or exit the tutorial. They should readily know which parts of a tutorial are interactive, which text is hyperlinked, and what will happen when they click a particular element. Learners should always have a way to move back and forth through a tutorial and return to the beginning. Not allowing the learner to move back and forth can lead to decreased motivation. However, some learners may move through content too quickly and skip vital information. If possible, allow more advanced learners to move more freely through a tutorial while restricting the movements of novice learners. A common navigation issue is double navigation, where there are two different ways to move through a tutorial, such as a menu and an arrow, which can confuse learners. Any double navigation should be removed. If your tutorial is visually complex and includes some type of game that needs instructions, learners should be given the option to skip through the instructions. You should also include a Help or a

Hint button where users can get extra help if needed. Again, as much as possible we want to avoid boring and frustrating the learner. If your course has several different parts that users must complete, include a road map or path so they can see what they have completed and what lies ahead.

Culturally inclusive teaching "is an approach to teaching that incorporates attributes and characteristics of, as well as knowledge from, students' cultural background into instructional strategies and course content to improve their academic achievement."¹⁰ As librarians, we teach *all* students from traditional freshmen to first-generation immigrants to foreign graduate students. Additionally we build our tutorials without ever having met our learners. This makes it much harder to design tutorials that reflect who our students are, but it is possible to create tutorials that are more inclusive. Having created tutorials for students from across the globe, I have come up with the following best practices:

- Avoid any slang, lingo, or jargon, especially library jargon.
- Avoid references to popular culture, current events, US history, and other topics that are overly US-centric.
- If you are using images or characters, make sure they are racially, ethnically, and religiously diverse and represent different sexual orientations and gender identities.
- Avoid images that show stereotypical roles of women and men.
- Do not use topics that could be considered taboo in other cultures.
- Avoid topics that could cause stress based on past trauma.

Notes

- General Services Administration, "IT Accessibility Laws and Policies," last modified July 2020, https:// www.section508.gov/manage/laws-and-policies/.
- 2. General Services Administration, "Guide to Accessible Web Design and Development," last modified March 2019, https://www.section508.gov/content/guide-accessible-web-design-development/.
- 3. Rev, "Closed Captioning Services," under How It Works: Step 2, accessed May 2, 2022, https://www.rev.com/services/closed-captioning-services.
- 4. Nothing Magical, "Guide," Contrast, accessed January 14, 2022, https://usecontrast.com/guide.
- Center for Universal Design, "About the Center: Ronald L. Mace," accessed January 1, 2022, https://proj ects.ncsu.edu/ncsu/design/cud/about_us/usronmace .htm.
- Centre for Excellence in Universal Design, "The 7 Principles," accessed December 24, 2021, https:// universaldesign.ie/what-is-universal-design/the -7-principles/.

- 7. CAST, "The UDL Guidelines," ver. 2.2, accessed November 11, 2021, https://udlguidelines.cast.org.
- 8. CAST, "UDL Guidelines."
- 9. Joseph (Mick) La Lopa, "The Difference between Bigfoot and Learning Styles: There May Be Better Evidence to Support the Existence of Bigfoot," *Journal* of Culinary Science and Technology 11, no. 4 (2017):
- 356–76; Paul A. Kirschner, "Stop Propagating the Learning Styles Myth," *Computers and Education* 106 (March 2017): 166–71, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comp edu.2016.12.006.
- 10. T. Howard, "Culturally Responsive Pedagogy," in *Encyclopedia of Diversity in Education*, ed. James A. Banks (Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage, 2012), 550–52.

Getting Feedback

Usability

For years, my library would create tutorials with the assumption that learners were completing the tutorials as designed, that they did not experience any problems, and that they were thoroughly understanding and grasping the content. We later implemented usability testing and found that our assumptions were entirely incorrect. We found that students were confused with most of the navigation, missed important directions and content, took twice the amount of time to complete a tutorial as we had expected, and did not fully learn what we thought they were learning. Most importantly, we learned that we should never create tutorials without conducting usability tests.

There are several definitions of usability, but the simplest and most straightforward is a "quality attribute that assesses how easy user interfaces are to use." Usability testing, which is task-based in nature, should not be confused with testing for performance (Did the learner actually learn something?) or satisfaction (What did the learner think of the tutorial?). Yes, we are concerned with these aspects, but usability testing for e-learning helps to eliminate barriers that may impede learning. Along with irrelevant content and overly lengthy tutorials, "poor design and usability of e-learning applications" are two leading contributors to low tutorial completion rates.² In addition to helping you discover interface and navigation issues with your tutorials, usability testing can also help you learn about your learners' preferences and get suggestions from them on improvements. You can also learn a lot about design from usability testing and then later build these design elements into future tutorials. Because of the many benefits of usability testing, it should be built into your tutorial design and development process, and not treated as an afterthought.

To conduct effective usability testing, you don't need sophisticated tools or expensive software. Nor do you need a dedicated space or a lot of participants. Guerrilla usability testing is a quick and low-cost way of getting feedback from users. It can be done in any public place, including heavily trafficked areas like the library lobby. It is defined as "a low-cost, lean, and agile method of collecting data for testing and validating a hypothesis in a short session focused on specific tasks."3 Many UX practitioners believe you need only five users to discover the majority of interface problems, but others argue that more are needed. Spillers, for example, advises having from eight to twenty users depending on the number of iterations.⁴ In our usability testing, we found that five users did not suffice and that different user segments (second language learners, nontraditional students) had different difficulties with the interface and the wording than did traditional freshman students. Although it is not always possible, you should aim to recruit users who are representative of your student population. Although usability testing is often conducted only with a finished product, you should conduct it throughout the development process. Here wireframes can help. Wireframes are simplified versions of your tutorial, and they can be digital or analog. Analog versions, known as paper wireframes, are sketches of your tutorial with all the navigation elements. Users complete tasks by pointing to different elements on the screen. Wireframes should not include any colors, only black and white, or any images and styling elements but should include all content and all navigation. Using wireframes allows you to gain a better understanding of how the user will experience the tutorial because they are not focused on how the tutorial looks.

Here are some tips for conducting usability and testing on tutorials:

- If possible, recruit students from across campus and not just the library. This way you are not introducing bias into your testing by speaking only with library users.
- Don't go it alone. Have at least two people conduct the testing: one person gives directions while the other observes and takes notes.

- Introduce yourself to the user, explain the tasks, and explain everyone's roles. Make sure to emphasize that you are testing the tutorial and not judging the user.
- Encourage users to think aloud as they complete tasks. However, do not require it, as some users do not feel comfortable thinking aloud.
- Let the user know that they can quit at any time, and let them know how long the testing will take
- Ask and record any demographic information that is relevant to the testing. Gender identity is likely not relevant, but major can be. Because you are not conducting human subjects research nor gathering any personally identifiable information, usability testing does not require institutional review board approval.
- Remain objective and do not offer help with any task. It is your job to observe and take notes.
- Keep it short. This type of testing should take minutes, not hours, to complete. Aim for less than ten minutes.
- Even though testing takes a short amount of time, it is free labor and users should be compensated in some way. Gift cards are best, but healthy snacks can help too.
- · Test for tutorial tasks such as
 - Can the learner start the tutorial?
 - Do they know where to get help?
 - Can they exit the tutorial?
 - Can they easily move through the tutorial?
 - Do they understand what they will learn in the tutorial?
 - Do they know how to answer question types?
 - Do they understand what is being asked in a question?
 - Can they easily adjust the volume if there is audio?
 - Do they know how to use all buttons and other elements on the screen?
- Set time limits for tasks. If you notice a student struggling with a particular question, move on to the next task or question.
- After completing the testing, thank the student for their time. Ask learners for feedback about areas they struggled with and suggestions for improvement. Often our learners know what will work best. Also, make sure to answer any questions the user may have.
- It is rare to have such one-on-one time with our learners, so make the most of this time and ask them a question or two on the content, usefulness, or their satisfaction with the tutorial.
- Make sure you use the feedback from the testing to make changes to your tutorial.
- If needed and you have the time and resources, repeat with the new changes.

Satisfaction Surveys

In addition to usability, surveys are another way to get feedback about tutorials from learners. Surveys can provide you with a greater understanding of what your learners think of your tutorials and what they feel they learned from them. Most often, a survey is our only opportunity to get feedback from our learners. However, since surveys and feedback forms are not required, learners often skip them, but there are several ways to ensure greater motivation to complete them. The following tips can be applied to different types of surveys but are focused on satisfaction type surveys.

- First, keep surveys short. Nobody wants to complete a long survey. Aim for a survey that will take only a few minutes to complete. For many of our tutorials, we include only one to three questions.
- To keep surveys short, avoid asking demographic questions. It may be interesting to know how different learner segments feel about tutorials, but if it is not necessary, do not ask for demographic information. If you do ask for demographic information, make sure it is inclusive in terms of race, gender, and ethnicity.
- You should be able to articulate the aim of your survey in one succinct sentence: for example, "I want to know if learners found the tutorial helpful," or "I want to know if learners enjoyed the tutorial."
- Use simple question forms. You don't want the learner to think too much about how to answer a question. Rather you want them to reflect on their experience and opinion.
- Don't feel the need to use different question types in order to not bore the user or to mix things up.
 Use the best question format for each question.
- When using multiple-choice questions, include an Other option with a free response text box. It is likely that you have not exhausted all options.
- For Likert scale questions, use a five-point scale.
 A three-point scale will not provide you with sufficient information.
- If asking a question about frequency, use specific time periods and not terms that may be unclear, such as "regularly." Instead use terms such as "weekly" and "monthly."
- Avoid any library jargon, slang, and any other terms your learners may not be familiar with.
- If asking potentially sensitive questions like age and income, use a range and not a specific number.
- Pilot your survey with different user groups before publishing it. What is clear and straightforward to you may not be to others.
- If your survey is more lengthy, in order to increase

- motivation to complete it, compensate users with a monetary incentive such as a gift card.
- Use skip logic so that users can skip questions that are not relevant to them or that they don't feel comfortable answering.
- Avoid leading questions. Leading questions are written so that users are forced to answer in a certain way. For example, the question "How much do you enjoy the tutorial?" implies the user enjoyed the tutorial. "Rate your experience using the tutorial" is more neutral.
- Use at least one open-ended question. Although more taxing on the user to answer, open-ended questions allow you to gain additional insights into the user's experience.
- Use the responses from the survey to make changes in your tutorials.

Notes

- Jakob Nielsen, "Usability 101: Introduction to Usability," Nielsen Norman Group, January 3, 2012, https://www.nngroup.com/articles/usability-101-introduction-to-usability/.
- Panagiotis Zaharias and Angeliki Poylymenakou, "Developing a Usability Evaluation Method for e-Learning Applications: Beyond Functional Usability," *International Journal of Human–Computer Inter*action 25, no. 1 (2009): 75–98, https://doi.org/10 .1080/10447310802546716.
- 3. Darpan Sunwar, "Guerilla Testing," Open Practice Library, March 23, 2021, https://openpracticelibrary.com/practice/guerilla-testing/.
- 4. Frank Spillers, "The 5 User Sample Size Myth: How Many Users Should You Really Test Your UX With?," Experience Dynamics, Medium, March 6, 2019, https://expdyn.medium.com/the-5-user-sample-size -myth-how-many-users-should-you-really-test-your -ux-with-675fa4bd8ac.

All You Need Is a Few Good Tools

any information literacy tutorials you find online are created in LibGuides. LibGuides are used to "curate knowledge and share information, organize class and subject specific resources, and to create and manage websites."1 They are not intended to be used to create tutorials as they don't have the pedagogical features needed to create effective and engaging learning experiences. There are hundreds of online sources that list and review the latest and most popular e-learning tools. Here I have included those that librarians will find most helpful in teaching information literacy skills via online tutorials. One thing to remember when choosing a tool is that no one tool can do it all, and depending on your content and your learning objectives, you will most likely need more than one.

Arist

Arist is the newest e-learning tool described in this chapter and is by far the most mobile-friendly. Arist is an e-learning platform tool that allows you to develop content delivered via text messages. In addition to text messages over phones, content can also be delivered via What's App, Teams, and Slack. Arist is easy to use and has almost no learning curve. Content types include text, images, and questions. There are three types of questions: multiple-choice, open-ended, and one-word answer, and question feedback can be customized at the answer level. A typical course will consist of some text followed by a question. The learner replies to the text message with their own message and receives a reply back with feedback followed by more snippets of new content. The content is organized around days, and a typical course takes about five to seven days to complete. A learner has twentyfour hours to complete a day's content, including answering all the questions. Once a learner completes a course, you are able to look at several analytics,

including number of completions and answer accuracy, and you can also see each learner's response to a question. Arist has a lot of potential, especially for reaching learners whose only access to technology is via a cell phone. My library recently used Arist to create a six-day course on using primary resources. Preliminary survey data indicates that learners were overwhelmingly satisfied with the text messagebased course. Arist is on the pricey side and charges anywhere between \$1.00 to \$5.00 per learner, but the company will work with customers, especially educational institutions and libraries, on pricing. Arist also offers a free version with limited features and a limit of fifty learners. Arist is best used to teach more conceptual aspects of information literacy. It will not work well with development of skills that need practice, as students will need to toggle back and forth between the course and website or application, which can lead to extraneous cognitive overload.

Arist https://www.arist.co/

Sidecar Learning

Sidecar Learning is a web-based application that employs the side-by-side method to teach students how to use databases and other online resources. When the student opens a tutorial, two windows automatically open side by side. The narrower window contains directions, while the other larger window contains the database or website. Learners are given directions as they interact with the live website or database. Learners can also answer different question types, including multiple-choice and short-answer, and are provided with customized feedback. Upon completion of a tutorial, the learner receives a certificate of completion.

Sidecar Learning was developed by two University of Arizona Library librarians after the well-known Guide on the Side software program lost support and funding. Sidecar is 508-compliant and can be used with any database or website. One unique feature of Sidecar Learning is the automatic setup of the windows. The user does not need to adjust the windows, and no window disappears behind another window. Sidecar Learning has different plans that range from \$99 to \$399 per year per creator/license. The \$99 plan allows a maximum of three tutorials, while the \$399 plan allows unlimited tutorials. There is also a free thirtyday trial. Sidecar Learning also offers custom pricing for larger organizations. Sidecar Learning works best with the development of information literacy skills and teaching how to use a website, use a database, and fill out a complicated form. It should be noted that the author, Yvonne Mery, is co-owner of Sidecar Learning.

Sidecar Learning https://www.sidecarlearning.com/

LibWizard

Like Sidecar Learning, LibWizard is specifically aimed at libraries and uses a similar side-by-side method. Learners work with two side-by-side windows, one with textual information and the other with the content (website, database, catalog, and more). In addition to text, you can also include images, PDFs, widgets, and many different question types with customized feedback. In addition to side-by-side tutorials, Lib-Wizard also allows you to create forms, surveys, and quizzes and includes advanced reporting and analytics. LibWizard is a product of Springshare, which also makes LibGuides and LibAnswers. LibWizard does not provide any pricing information on its website, but it does offer a free trial. LibWizard works best for developing information skills and database skills and for quizzing and getting feedback from students.

LibWizard https://springshare.com/libwizard/

Articulate

Articulate has several popular products including Rise and Storyline. With Rise you can create sleek web pages (Articulate calls these pages courses). They are courses as opposed to static web pages because you can easily add interactive options and quizzes. Content is presented modularly, and users can easily move through the different modules. You can also restrict movement between modules until the learner completes a task or answers a question. Content is primarily presented via text and images. Storyline is more customizable than Rise and includes more interactivity and many more question types. Storyline can also be used to create screencasts, animations, and simulations. Both Storyline and Rise are mobile-friendly, and content automatically adjusts to any screen, and both have course/learner management system integration. Rise 360, which includes Storyline, also features an extensive library of assets including images, characters, and templates. It also includes collaboration and review tools with which teams can work together. All Articulate products are easy to use, have a very low learning curve, and come with excellent customer service. Articulate has different pricing structures from \$499 to \$649 annually for nonprofits including academic institutions. Rise is an excellent tool to present information on a variety of topics in a fun, engaging, and interactive way. Storyline works best with simulations and practicing skills.

Rise

https://articulate.com/360/rise/

Storyline

https://articulate.com/perpetual/storyline-3/

Adobe Captivate

Adobe Captivate is often mistaken for a simple screencasting software program, but it is much more and can be used to create highly interactive mobile-ready tutorials. Captivate has a plethora of features including quizzes, templates, conversion from PowerPoint slides to interactive videos, and access to Adobe Stock assets. Captivate can be integrated with an LMS. Captivate has different pricing structures, which start at \$33.99 a month for an individual plan. Team and enterprise plans are also available upon request. Captivate works best with simulations and practicing skills.

Adobe Captivate

https://www.adobe.com/products/captivate.html

Vyond and Powtoon

Thanks to YouTube and TikTok, video is everywhere, and it is the way students access all types of information today. Vyond and Powtoon are two of the most popular video animation creation software platforms. Both offer a variety of customizable templates, characters, and other assets. Vyond has three different types of characters: contemporary, businessfriendly, and whiteboard animation. Powtoon also has whiteboard doodling, screen capturing, and video templates for specific social media such as LinkedIn, Twitter, and Instagram. Both support voice-overs, music, and lip synching of characters. Both also offer a number of pricing structures starting at \$228 per year. Video tutorials are best used to teach information literacy concepts and theories.

Vyond https://www.vyond.com/

Powtoon https://www.powtoon.com/

Actionbound

Of course, students still visit our physical spaces and need to learn what they offer and how to use them. An engaging and digital way to do this is via scavenger hunts delivered on students' phones. There are several scavenger hunt apps on the market with a wide range of pricing. One of the most affordable is Actionbound. With Actionbound you can create interactive digital tours around your library. Students download the Actionbound app, then scan a QR code. Then, they are given directions to different areas of the library and interact with the app by answering multiple-choice or short-answer questions or taking and uploading a picture. Actionbound also has a GPS feature where students need to find a specific spot. When students answer a question correctly or find a spot, they move on to the next step. There are also reporting features with which you can view results and how students rated the tour. Actionbound prices vary by type of institution and size; library-specific plans start at around \$60 per year. Note that Actionbound is based in Germany and lists prices in euros.

Actionbound https://en.actionbound.com/

Jotform

Like the better-known Google Forms, Jotform allows you to create forms for a number of different purposes, including getting feedback from students via ratings and surveys and having students answer openended questions. Unlike Google Forms, Jotform integrates seamlessly with tools like Rise. Jotform also allows you to run different types of reports to analyze student responses. Jotform has different pricing plans, including a free version with limited features, and plans from \$12 to \$39.50 per month. There is also enterprise pricing upon request.

Jotform https://www.jotform.com/

Playposit

Although popular and effective, videos are passive. Playposit allows you to add interactivity to any video. Videos can be imported from platforms like YouTube, TEDed, Vimeo, and Khan Academy, or you can upload your own. You can pause a video at any point and add interactivity in the form of a multiple-choice question, a short-answer question, a discussion forum, and summative quizzes. Playposit integrates with any LMS, and as soon as a student completes a tutorial, you can see how they performed on the questions. Playposit has several pricing structures, including an individual subscription that costs \$144 a year.

Playposit https://go.playposit.com/

Note

1. "LibGuides," Springshare, accessed August 30, 2021, https://www.springshare.com/libguides/.

Library Technology REPORTS

Upcoming Issues		
Aug/Sept 58:6	Improving Access to and Delivery of Academic Content from Libraries by Aaron Tay	
October 58:7	The Current Landscape of Electronic Resources Access Issues by Ashley Zmau and Holly Talbott	
Nov/Dec 58:8	Bibliometrics Tools and Technologies in Academia by Laura Bredahl	

Purchase single copies in the ALA Store

alastore.ala.org



alatechsource.org

ALA TechSource, a unit of the publishing department of the American Library Association

A Note to Our Subscribers

As a subscription-based publication, *Library Technology Reports* will sunset with the December 2022 issue. After that time, it will be available for single-issue sales only. Subsequently, no new *Library Technology Reports* subscriptions or renewals will be accepted. If you have questions about your subscription, please contact us at subscriptions@ala.org or call toll free at (800) 545-2433, ext. 4299.